1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE STATE	OF NEVADA	
2				
3				
4	TROX DIGILADD WHITE) NO.	Electronically Filed 58527 2016 08:34 a.m	
5	TROY RICHARD WHITE,) NO.	Tracie K. Lindeman	
6	Appellant,	Ì	Clerk of Supreme Cour	
7	VS,)		
8		į		
9	THE STATE OF NEVADA,)		
10	Respondent.	ý		
11)		
12	APPELLANT'S	OPENING BRIE	<u>EF</u>	
13	(Appeal from Jud	gment of Conviction	on)	
14	(Appear from suc	Emont of Convious	,,,,	
15	PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF.	STEVEN B. WO	i i	
16	309 South Third Street, #226	outh Third Street, #226 200 Lewis Avenue, 3 rd Floor egas, Nevada 89155-2610 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155		
17	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685			
18	(702) 433-4083	(102) 433-4711

1	NRS 50.03510
2	NDC 50 105
3	NRS 50.105
4	NRS 51.10511, 12
5	
6	
7	·
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	·
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 1 2 3 TROY RICHARD WHITE, NO. 68632 4 Appellant, 5 6 VS. 7 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 8 Respondent. 9 10 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 11 12 **Issues Presented for Review** 13 The District Court Abused its discretion in excluding the voice <u>I.</u> 14 messages. 15 Failure to instruct that the provocation causing heat of passion can II. 16 take place over a period of time. 17 **Statement of Facts** 18 19 Troy White shot and killed his wife, Echo Lucas-White, in the family 20 AA 194-7. White then shot her lover, Joe Averman. Id. Averman home. 21 survived. Id. There had been marital discord in the weeks leading up to the 22 23 shooting. There had also been talks of reconciliation. The only issue at trial 24 was White's state of mind. 25 26 In the months leading up to the shooting Troy White and Echo Lucas-27 White were going through marital problems including a separation in early 28

June of 2012. AA 1412-3. Despite the separation, White continued to support his family and paid the mortgage on the family home. AA 1450. The home was in Troy White's name and he kept a key to the residence. AA 1449. Lucas-White stayed at the family home during the week and White stayed at the family home on weekends. AA 1458. The couple shared the child care duties for their five children---Jody; Jaycee; Jesse; Jett and Jazzy. AA1458.

Unbeknownst to White, his wife had started a romantic relationship with Joe Averman in early 2012. AA 1456; AA 1410. Averman was recently divorced. AA 1406. Averman had met Troy White more than a decade earlier while the two were attending the Potter's House Church. AA 1405. White and Averman quickly became close friends. AA 1407.

Eventually Troy White became aware of the relationship between his longtime friend Averman and his wife Echo Lucas-White. Shortly after White and Lucas-White separated Averman began staying the night at the White family home. AA 1414-5. Troy White desperately wanted his family back. AA 1413 White was understandably upset with the situation, but when Lucas-White and Averman started looking for a new place to live White convinced them not to saying it would be easier for the children if they stayed at the family home. AA 1413. Averman, now unemployed, had moved into the White home. During the week White bunked on an air mattress in the

_

 living room of a friend from the Potter's House Church, Herman Allen. AA 1528.

In the weeks leading up to the shooting White expressed his displeasure with the situation to friends through comments and some hateful postings on Facebook. AA 1820 The state argued that the Facebook postings from several weeks before the shooting evidenced deliberation and premeditation. AA 1820-1. Their also 100 plus texts. AA 1967-87. According to her mother, Amber Gaines, Lucas-White used a combination of texts and voicemails as a primary means of communication and would text at all hours. AA 1633.

Just when it looked like the marriage was over, in the last few days leading up the shooting, texts between White and Lucas-White reveal that there was some discussion of reconciliation. AA 1967-87. Four days before the shooting Lucas-White texted Troy White pictures of their children, broken hearts and asked to meet with him the following day. AA 1980. Later texts make clear the meeting took place at a store on the Wednesday before the shooting. AA 1971. Averman was unaware meeting. AA 1482. Averman was also unaware of the texts concerning reconciliation. AA 1485.

The night before the shooting White had went by the family home and rattled the windows. A series of text made clear that, at least in White's

6 7

10

11 12

13

14 15

16

17

18

19 20

21

22

23

24 25

26

27

28

mind, Lucas-White had promised White reconciliation with the family he wanted so desperately. AA 1974. It's also clear that, as far as getting rid of Joe Averman was concerned, things weren't moving as quickly as White had hoped. Id.

The shooting was on a Saturday. AA 1423. White and his wife shared a single vehicle which was left at the family home during the week for use in caring for the children. AA 1416. During the week White was without a car and ether had to walk to the family home or take the bus. AA 1462. That morning White took a city bus. AA 1462. Usually White would get to the family home around 3:00 or 4:00. AA 1425. On this day, he arrived shortly before noon. AA 1423. Present at the family home were Echo Lucas, Joe Averman and all five children. AA 194-7.

At trial the details of what happened during the shooting were relayed White arrived early and was perhaps a bit irritated, but by Averman. otherwise Averman noticed nothing particularly amiss. AA 1426. When White entered the home the children called to their mother, "Mommy, Mommy, Daddy is here." AA 11423. White wanted to speak with his wife. AA 1425. At first She told him to come back later. AA 1425-6. White then addressed both his wife and Averman, saying "Joe, please just let me talk to her for five minutes." AA 1426. After White sought Averman's permission

to speak with his wife privately for a few minutes, Lucas-White agreed to speak with her husband. AA1425-6; AA 1462. White was not openly agitated and no threats were made. AA 1452.

On cross-examination Averman testified that he did no did not feel anything out of the ordinary or unusual----certainly nothing that would cause him to be afraid or prompt him to call the police. AA 1453. According to Averman he wasn't freighted of White, despite claiming at trail that White had sent him some threatening texts and/or voicemails. AA 1454. He had known White for years and agreed that White didn't seem to be type of person he needed to be concerned about. AA 1454.

Troy and Echo went to a back bedroom/crafts room of the family home and closed the door. AA 1426. Initially there was nothing unusual, but after about five minutes Averman heard an argument through the closed door. AA 1428; AA 1463. It was the first time Averman became concerned with the situation. AA 1464. Given what was described before the argument and how quickly the situation turned it is reasonable to infer that something happened inside the room to send into White's a fit anger. The only question left for the

¹ Averman did not recall the specifics of the alleged texts/voice mails and didn't keep any copies. AA 1454. Averman had also told the police shortly after the incident that he had not received any threatening texts. AA 1455-6.

jury was whether the state could prove something more than the heat of passion.

When the door opened Troy White had a gun and his demeanor changed. White was angry and irrational. AA 1478. White was inside the room and Lucas was in the doorway, placing her between White and Averman. AA 1445. A shot was fired hitting Lucas, then several more striking Averman. AA 1430-32. Averman would later tell police that it appeared Lucas-White had gone for the gun or was attempting to wrestle it away from White. AA 1466. The children were nearby. The whole incident was over in a matter of a few seconds. AA 1433. After the first few shoots White came to his senses and the shooting stopped.

After the shooting there was confusion. AA 1471. As Averman lay on the floor White threatened him saying something akin to "if I'm going to prison I might as well kill you." AA 1435. Having come to his senses White chose not to fire more shots. AA 1475. White took a cell phone from Averman but initially had problems placing a call to 911. AA 1582. Averman heard White saying he couldn't get the cell to work. AA 1447. At approximately 11:50 a.m., the oldest child, Jodey White, called 911. AA 1574. Troy White was able to call 911 and ask for medical services about 3 minutes later. AA 1574. The sirens could be heard very quickly thereafter.

AA 1448. As sirens approached White fled the scene leaving his children unattended at the family home for a few moments. AA 1448-9.

White drove to Prescott Arizona, birthplace of the Potter's House Church. During the drive to Arizona, White called Herman Allen and told him what had happened. AA 1538 Having previously heard about the shooting, Herman had been trying to call White and was worried that White would commit suicide. AA 1537; AA 1551-2 In Prescott, a crying Troy White turned himself in without incident. AA1141; AA 1117-8. It had been only a few hours since the shooting.

For the killing of Echo Lucas-White, the state charged First Degree Murder with the use of a deadly weapon. AA 194-7 For the shooting of Joe Averman, the state charged Attempted Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. AA 194-7.

At trial the stated arguing that White had went to home planning to kill his wife and Averman. The defense argued that the facts did not support the charges. If anything it appeared that White went home to a volatile situation when an argument broke out as the result of ongoing series of events in which ended with White firing shots in the heat of passion.

The defense theory was simple: For White losing his family, desperate for reconciliation, being told his relationship was over and seeing Averman

had been too much. He snapped inside the bedroom/craft room. The State could prove no more than voluntary manslaughter with use of a deadly weapon in the shooting of Lucas. As to Averman the shots were also fire in the heat of passion, which as the jury was instructed meant he lacked the mental state to support the charge of attempted murder with the use of a deadly weapon.²

To support's it's claims the state introduced over 100 text messages between White and Lucas from the day and hours leading up to the shootings. The texts were highlighted in the opening³ and closing.⁴ They were interwoven throughout the trial. They also pointed the fact that White entered his home with a loaded weapon. AA 840.

To rebut the state's arguments concerning the texts, the defense offered two voice messages White had left on Lucas's cell phone in the hours leading up to shortly before the shooting.⁵ AA 1641-3. The voice messages directly

² The jury was correctly instructed that under Nevada Law heat of passion precludes a conviction for attempted murder. AA 1944; See also <u>Curry v. State</u>, 106 Nev. 317, 792 P.2d at 397 (1990): Voluntary manslaughter can not be committed with a specific intent because "[o]ne cannot logically specifically intend to act pursuant to a spontaneous, unanticipated and therefore, truly irresistible passion."

³ AA 831-836; opening AA 830 to 841.

⁴ AA 1822-23; AA 1825; AA 1862-64; AA 1867-69.

⁵ Copies of the voice messages are attached to Appellant's Appendix as MP3 files. The authenticity and foundational requirements for the phone calls were not in question. AA 1643. The first voice message, defendant's proposed OO

rebutted the state's claim that White had harbored some kind of long term plan to kill his wife. The messages had been left during course of various texts the state admitted and relied upon in their case in chief. In the messages White's voice can be heard breaking as he professes his desire to reconcile with Echo Lucas. He asks her to leave Averman and to come back to him. He tells he will be waiting for her, but doesn't know how long. The voice messages provide the best evidence of White's state of mind in the hours leading up to the shooting.

The timing of the voice messages overlapped with the timing with the hundred plus text messages the state out before the jury. AA 1822-5. It was days after the Facebook postings the state argued proved premeditation and deliberation. AA 1820-21. The voice messages paint a very different picture of White than that advocated by the state. In short, the defense sought to put the entity of conversation/conversations before the jury. The voice messages from White to Lucas which ran directly into face of state's claims and were clear rebuttal to both the Facebook post and the texts offered by the state.

It's important to note that even without hearing the voice messages, the jury rejected the state's claims of deliberate premeditated murder. White was

was sent at around 5:00 a.m. the morning of the shooting. (AA 1642; 1647) The second voice messages, defendant's proposed PP, was sent at 9:41 am. (AA 1647)

ultimately convicted of Count 1-Second Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon; Count 2-Attempt Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon; Count 3-Carrying a Concealed Weapon; Counts 4 through 8-Child Abuse, Neglect, or Endangerment. AA 359-61.

White appeals because he was denied meaningful opportunity to have the jury fairly consider his claims of voluntary manslaughter---the district court's exclusion of the voice messages was an abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Abused its discretion in excluding the voice messages.

A. The Hearsay rule did not apply

While hearsay is not generally admissible (NRS 50.035), there are many exceptions to this rule. In particular, statements offered to show then existing state of mind fall outside the hearsay prohibition. (NRS 50.105) So long as the state of mind is relevant, statements evidencing state of mind should not be excluded on hearsay grounds.

i. State of mind was the relevant issue at trial

The physical act of killing, firing a shot which results in the death of another, can have legal consequences ranging from nothing to the death penalty. NRS 200.030. What distinguishes an accident from an act of self-

--

 defense from a manslaughter from a murder rest solely and completely with the defendant's mental state. In the instant case White's state of mind in not only relevant to the charge of murder, it was determinative.

As human beings, our state of mind leading up to an event is often the best indication of our state of mind at time of the event. This principle led the state to admit 100 plus text against White during their case in chief; it is embraced in the notation of manslaughter ("sudden heat of passion") and provides the underlying basis for the language set forth in NRS 51.105 which codifies the "state of mind exception" to the hearsay rule.

The state presented evidence concerning the defendant's mental state in the days and hours leading up to the shooting in the form of text messages and Facebook postings, but the evidence failed to tell the full story. White sought to admit two voice messages to rebut the state's claims and the voice messages were relevant for this purpose.⁶ They should have been heard by the jury.

ii. The voice messages where admissible under State of mind exception to the hearsay rule

⁶ See, for example, <u>Tabish v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 293, 310, 72 P.3d 584, 595 (2003) recognizing that state of mind may be relevant to rebut an opposing party's theory-here the state went on at length arguing that the texts sent by White in the days and hours leading up to the shooting evidenced a plot to murder—the voice mails were in complete contradiction of this claim as they evidenced a desire a reconciliation and a longing for family.

 NRS 51.105 Then existing mental, emotional or physical condition reads:

A statement of the declarants then existing state of mind,
 emotion, sensation or physical condition, such as intent, plan,
 motive, design, mental feeling, pain and bodily health, is not
 inadmissible under the hearsay rule.

The voice messages in question were offered for just these purposes and were in fact the best evidence of White's his state of mind in the hours leading up to the shooting. The state put the time frame directly at issue by introducing into evidence various texts sent between White and his wife contemporaneously to voice messages—then vigorously arguing that the texts proved murder. During closing took advantage of the court's error, going as far as arguing during rebuttal that:

"the defense made some interesting, very creative arguments about the text messages and that they show the defendant wanted to kick Joe out of the house. Fortunately for you have the entire conversation. That's State's 85. And what will be abundantly clear to you from their entire conversation is that at about approximately 8:30, 9:00 a.m. the defendant realized that Echo was never coming back." AA 1862.

The voice messages rebut the state's claims and paint a very different picture of White's state of mind. In particular, the voice message offered as defendant's proposed PP was left some 40 minutes to an hour after the state claims White "realized that Echo was never coming back" --- the voice

message proves this isn't true. As to the claim that of state providing the jury with the "entire conversation", well that is the basis for this appeal. Other references to texts sent both before and after the voice messages are made throughout the closing. AA 1820-23; AA 1867-71.

In the voice messages, White speaks of his plans for the future and his desire to have his family backing. He tells Lucas White he will be waiting for her, but he doesn't know for how long. He tells her he loves her. These statements were relevant to show that White did not have some sort of cohesive plan to kill his wife when he returned to the family home some hours later; they are also relevant as direct rebuttal of the evidence admitted by that state during the cases in chief, to wit: the 100 plus texts and an angry Facebook positing from a more than a week earlier which the state argued proved premeditation and deliberation. The messages clearly fell under the state of mind exception to the hearsay rule and the district court abused its discretion by refusing to allow the jury to hear the voice messages.

B. The voice messages were admissible under the Rule of

Completeness

N.R.S. 47.120 Remainder of writings or recorded statements:

1. When any part of a writing or recorded statement is introduced by a party, the party may be required at that time to

introduce any other part of it which is relevant to the part introduced, and any party may introduce any other relevant parts.

2. This section does not limit cross-examination.

In <u>Beech Aircraft Corp. v. Rainey</u>, 488 U.S. 153, 172 (1988), the Supreme Court noted: "when one party has made use of a portion of a document, such that misunderstanding or distortion can be averted only through presentation of another portion, the material required for completeness is ipso facto relevant." The texts and voice messages are recorded statements which form a conversation. The State admitted portions of the conversation, namely the hundred plus texts it argued about during the trial. The defense had the right under the doctrine of completeness to admit the voice messages which make up the remainder of the conversation. Fundamental fairness also dictates as much, as the state should not have been allowed to represent the texts as "the entire conversation" during closing then argue that they proved something the voice messages rebutted. AA 1862.

The state may attempt to seek refuge by claiming that each individual text or voice mail somehow represents a single conversation, but anyone

⁷ By its plain language one could argue that NRS 47.0120 only seems to apply to a single recorded statement—and the rule would make sense in the context of, for example, multiple statements to the police taking place hours apart. See <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 823 So.2d 1, 39 (Ala.Crim.App.2001) declaring that "the doctrine of completeness does not extend beyond a single

///

///

familiar with modern technology knows better. Conversations take place over the course of time and a single text does not a conversation make. During rebuttal the state itself virtually conceded this point when it repeatedly referred to the 100 plus texts as "the entire conversation." AA 1862.

Even if the court were to adopt the nonsensical approach of treating each separate text or voice mail as a distinct conversation the state should still not prevail under a simple theory of fundamental fairness. The Maryland high court phrased it thus: "The doctrine of completeness allows, and under some circumstances fairness may require, a court to admit statements from separate conversations." Convers v. State, 345 Md. 525, 544, 693 A.2d 781, 790 (1997)

Conclusion concerning the voice messages

In the instant case the government was allowed to paint a false of what picture of White's state of mind. The voice messages were admissible under the completeness doctrine as well as the state of mind exception to the hearsay rule.

conversation." This is clearly distinct from the situation at bar where the voice message take place in very midst of the tests messages relied upon the state.

II. Failure to instruct that the provocation causing heat of passion can take place over a period of time.

The provocation which led to White killing his wife and shooting Joe Averman came over the course of the days and weeks leading up to the shooting. His family was taken away; his best friend had begun an affair with his wife and just when he thought reconciliation was possible he was again rejected.

Averman's account of events indicates that when White entered the family home he was, at worst, a bit irritated that his calls had not been returned. He did not appear angry and made no threats. And yet, a few minute later after speaking with his wife White became enraged and irrational. Given all that had happened leading up the shooting, this cases screams of irresistible impulse and heat of passion cause by the ongoing events. This was the theory the defense wanted to present to the jury---a theory White had the right to have the jury instructed upon. 8

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