IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TROY RICHARD WHITE,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jul 12 2016 11:12 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

Case No. 68632

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SCOTT L. COFFEE Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #005607 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

And then at 11:24:59 a.m., "You know I'm only crazy like this because of what you're doing to me. For the record I wouldn't be this way if you would just stop and come back to me. You should have spent your time before you told me you wanted me back, and then you could just come back and it's all good. But now you're all pissed off again and now you think I'm an asshole again or just wait and see."

¹ The State objected to this improper argument under <u>Glover v. Eighth Judicial Dist.</u> <u>Ct.</u>, 125 Nev. 691, 220 P.3d 684 (2009), and that objection was sustained.

9 AA 1862-63. This argument was wholly proper and the actual texts relied on were all sent well after Defendant's Proposed Exhibit PP.

Second, the State was not required to pinpoint the exact moment White determined to kill Echo because he realized their relationship was over. Instead, the State was required to prove White's premeditated and deliberate decision to kill Echo preceded her death. Certainly if the State would have cited the same text messages in rebuttal and estimated that "at approximately" 10:00 or 10:30 AM, White had realized Echo was never coming back to him, White would have absolutely no grounds for complaint. The thrust of the State's argument was that, prior to Echo's death, White had deliberated and premeditated her murder because he had realized their relationship was over and, contrary to White's closing argument, White then went to Echo's house to commit the premeditated murder of Echo and attempt to murder Joe.

Further, some of White's text messages sent after the State's time estimation at least suggested White's desire to reunite with Echo. <u>See</u> 8 AA 1687 ("Obviously you're full of s---, you don't care about me, you don't love me. You know what, I would put up everything to be able to talk to you."); 8 AA 1691 ("You get not time. You either want to leave him and have all you missed that you told me in the store Wednesday or hang on to him. You proved what you want."). This was not a case where the State deliberately excluded evidence and then made arguments contradicted by the very evidence excluded. White cannot show that the voicemail message sent at 9:41 AM was uniquely able to counter the State's time estimation.

Finally, because the State's time estimation was based on more than just the text messages, White's claim that the voicemail messages undermined those text messages such that the State's argument would fail is without merit. White told numerous people in the days and hours leading up to the crimes that he wanted to kill both Echo and Joe because they were ending his marriage. <u>See</u>, 6 AA 1226, 1313; 7 AA 1418; 8 AA 1747. As such, even if the proposed voicemail message was offered, the State would have still had more than a sufficient evidentiary basis to contend White had premeditated and deliberated Echo's murder prior to her death and committed the crimes to punish Echo for leaving him for Joe.

White's contention that the voicemail messages were admissible under the rule of completeness likewise lacks merit. NRS 47.120 provides: "When any part of a writing or recorded statement is introduced by a party, the party may be required at that time to introduce any other part of it which is relevant to the part introduced, and any party may introduce any other relevant parts." By its plain language, NRS 47.120 "is limited to writing and recorded statements and does not apply to conversations." <u>Patterson v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 1525, 1531, 907 P.2d 984, 988 (1995) (quoting FEDERAL RULES OF EVIDENCE 107 advisory committee note).

Here, the State rightly argued that no portion of the voicemail messages had been admitted, and as such they could not come in to "complete" any statements. 8 AA 1642. To the extent White claims the voicemail messages were part of a "conversation" between White and Echo, he is mistaken for multiple reasons. First, <u>Patterson</u> and the plain language of the statute clearly and expressly reject White's effort to expansively interpret NRS 47.120 to include conversations. <u>See also, Beech</u> <u>Aircraft Corp v. Rainey.</u> 488 U.S. 153, 172 (1988) (holding that, when one portion of a single document is submitted, other portions of the same single document may be admitted by the opposing party). Instead, the rule explicitly allows for the completion of "statements" only and the voicemail messages were separate from the text messages under any interpretation of that word.

Second, to describe the voicemail messages as part of a "conversation" between Echo and White is disingenuous. Echo unequivocally refused White's efforts to speak with her on the phone and repeatedly told him to only send text messages. Given Echo's uniform refusal to hear White's voice, White cannot even show that Echo even listened to the voicemail messages, thus making White's alleged "conversation" entirely one-sided. In fact, White appeared to acknowledge the likelihood his voicemail messages were going unheard as he repeated the same sentiments expressed in the voicemail messages in subsequent text messages. See,

e.g., 8 AA 1687, $1691.^2$ A common term for such a one-sided conversation is a "statement" and places White right back where he started, arguing for the full admission of a hearsay statement where no portion has been offered by the opposing party.

Finally, even if this Court finds error in the District Court's exclusion of the voicemail messages, it must also find such error harmless. As noted <u>supra</u>, the content included in the voicemail messages was repeated throughout the admitted text messages. Thus, the jury was well aware of White's statements that he was frustrated with the condition of his relationship with Echo and that he desired reconciliation. In light of the fact the words spoken on the voicemail messages were repeated, sometimes verbatim, in the text messages, White fails to articulate what independent purpose or legally probative value the voicemail messages held for the jury. Put simply, the jury received all of the evidence White sought to offer, just not in the medium White preferred. As such, White cannot show any error was prejudicial.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING THE DEFENSE'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTION

² Indeed, even in the voicemail messages themselves, White repeatedly states only that he "hopes" Echo listens to the message. <u>Defense Proposed Exhibit OO and PP</u>.

White contends that the district court erred in declining to use his proffered instruction that provocation causing a heat of passion can take place over a period of time. AOB 16-20. A District Court's decisions in settling jury instructions are reviewed for abuse of discretion or judicial error. Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005). "District courts have broad discretion to settle jury instructions." Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008). Though courts should strive to make jury instructions clear and unambiguous, there is no duty to provide an instruction at a defendant's request that is substantially covered by other instructions. Vallery v. State, 118 Nev. 357, 372, 46 P.3d 66, 77 (2002); Earl v. State, 111 Nev. 1304, 1308, 904 P.2d 1029, 1031 (1995). "[I]f a proffered instruction misstates the law or is adequately covered by other instructions, it need not be given." Barron v. State, 105 Nev. 767, 773, 783 P.2d 444, 448 (1989). See also Carver v. El-Sabawi, 121 Nev. 11, 14, 107 P.3d 1283, 1285 (2005) (finding jury instructions that tend to confuse or mislead erroneous).

White proffered the following instruction:

While the state of mind constituting heat of passion must be the result of a sudden impulse, the provocation leading to the sudden heat of passion can occur over either a long or short period of time and may be the result of an ongoing series of events.

9 AA 1778. White acknowledged there was no Nevada authority requiring the instruction but cited to <u>Boykins v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 171, 995 P.2d 474 (2000), and Roberts v. State, 102 Nev. 170, 717 P.2d 1115 (1986), for support. The district court

rejected this instruction, finding it unsupported under Nevada law. 9 AA 1779. The jury was instructed on voluntary manslaughter pursuant to NRS 200.040, NRS 200.050, and NRS 200.060. 2 AA 241-45, 250, 269.

White's requested jury instruction was properly denied in the Court's discretion. As the court noted, and as White concedes on appeal, there is no basis under Nevada law for the proposed instruction. 9 AA 1779. Indeed, White's proposed instruction undermines NRS 200.060, which provides:

The killing must be the result of that sudden, violent impulse of passion supposed to be irresistible; for, if there should appear to have been an interval between the assault or provocation given and the killing, sufficient for the voice of reason and humanity to be heard, the killing shall be attributed to deliberate revenge and punished as murder.

See also Allen v. State, 98 Nev. 354, 356, 647 P.2d 389, 391 (1982); Jackson v. State, 84 Nev. 203, 207, 483 P.2d 795, 797 (1968). Thus, NRS 200.060 does not allow for a prolonged provocation as there cannot be sufficient time between the alleged provocation and the actual killing such that the voice of reason can be heard. See, Cranford v. State, 76 Nev. 113, 119, 349 P.2d 1051, 1054 (1960) (finding evidence of an affair between the defendant's estranged wife and the decedent five months prior to the murder inadmissible because such was remote in time to the actual killing and would have precluded a reduction from murder to manslaughter).³

³ White may contend that NRS 200.060 relates to the time period between the heat of passion and the actual killing and does not apply to provocation. However, the plain language of that statute reads "if there should appear to have been an interval between

Given White's concession that his proposed instruction had no basis in Nevada law and the fact that it runs contrary to NRS 200.060 and related case authority, it is curious that White nonetheless contends the district court erred in not giving the instruction.

On appeal, White offers Boykin and Roberts and argues they support his proposed instruction by analogy. White's reliance is misplaced. First, as White acknowledges, Boykin concerns self-defense, not voluntary manslaughter. White's analogy to **Boykins** is further strained by the fact that it involved battered spouse syndrome, which the Nevada legislature has seen fit to formally recognize as a statutory factor relevant to self-defense. See NRS 48.061. The same legislature has not enacted a statute providing for legally adequate provocation to occur "over a period of time." Finally, the basis for NRS 48.061, and for the battered spouse defense is formed by significant medical and psychological evidence. There is no such scientific counterpart for White's claim that legally adequate provocation sufficient to excite a sudden and irresistible impulse in the reasonable person may occur "over a period of time." All of these fundamental differences between Boykin and the instant case render the former distinguishable and of no assistance.

the *assault or provocation given* and the killing, sufficient for the voice of reason and humanity to be heard, the killing shall be attributed to deliberate revenge and punished as murder." (emphasis added).

Further, Roberts likewise presents a distinguishable set of facts and does not support White's position. In that case, the defendant was separated from his wife, Loddy, but believed they would reconcile and continued providing for her and their children. 102 Nev. at 171, 717 P.2d at 1115. On the day before the murder, the defendant ran some errands for Loddy and the two made plans to meet together in the afternoon for drinks. Id. When Loddy did not show, the defendant began drinking alone, eventually leaving the last of a series of bars early the next morning. Id. As the defendant drove by a trailer belonging to another man, he saw Loddy's car parked out front, and testified he did not remember anything else until after Loddy was already dead. According to other witnesses, the defendant knocked on the trailer door incessantly until Loddy answered and then immediately shot her. Id. The Court held that, under the evidence of the case, the defendant was entitled to an instruction on voluntary manslaughter, opining that:

> [The defendant] would have been justified in viewing [Loddy] 'standing him up' as a callused insult, greatly aggravated by her taking up sexually with another man on the night of his planned get-together with her. It is not unreasonable to infer from such circumstances that his discovery provoked him into a sudden and excessive anger or heat of passion as the statute reads.

Id. at 173 n.2, 717 P.2d at 1117, n.2.

The <u>Roberts</u> Court did not in any way address the time frame within which provocation can occur. Indeed, the above-quoted footnote suggests that the Court found the defendant's "discovery" of Loddy's sexual relationship with another man

as the legally adequate provocation and her failure to join him for drinks the day before as merely the context within which that provocation occurred.⁴ White appears to be conflating a jury instruction with admissible evidence. All that can be said of Roberts is that, at least implicitly, it appears to hold evidence not itself constituting legally adequate provocation may nevertheless be admissible to establish a context within which to view such provocation. However, to that extent, Roberts was wholly complied with in this case as significant evidence of the context building toward Echo's murder was admitted. Thus, White had ample ability to explain to the jury the surrounding circumstances leading to what he believed was a legally adequate provocation causing a sudden heat of passion. Also, and unlike Roberts, White's jury was instructed on voluntary manslaughter and ultimately rejected that option. See 2 AA 241-45, 250, 269. As evidence concerning the context within which White's alleged legally adequate provocation was admitted and the jury was instructed concerning voluntary manslaughter pursuant to the controlling statutes, there was no error under Roberts.

White next turns to authority from other jurisdictions to contend the jury should have been provided the requested instruction. White first points to the non-

⁴ It is the State's hope that White is not contending the <u>Roberts</u> court implicitly held that merely being stood up for a social engagement, even over the course of time, would ever rise to the level of legally adequate provocation giving rise to a sudden heat of passion.

binding holding in <u>People v. Wharton</u>, 53 Cal. 3d 522, 809 P.2d 290 (1991). However, White fails to note that <u>Wharton</u> itself relied on state-specific precedent to find the defendant was entitled to such an instruction. <u>See</u> 53 Cal. 3d at 569, 809 P.2d at 318 (*citing* <u>People v. Berry</u> 18 Cal. 3d 509, 134 Cal. Rptr. 415, 556 P.2d 777 (1976). Additionally, <u>Wharton</u> and <u>Berry</u> relied on state-specific statutes governing voluntary manslaughter. Such statutes are distinct and less specific than Nevada statutes governing voluntary manslaughter. <u>Compare</u> Cal. Pen. Code 192 <u>with</u> NRS 200.040, NRS 200.050, NRS 200.060.

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